United Nations

GENERAL
ASSEMBLY

EIGHTH SESSION
Official Records

PIRST COMMITIEE, B76th

MEETING

Thursday, 26 November 1953,
at 10.30 a.m.

New York

CONTENTS
Page

Measures to avert the threat of a new world war and to
reduce tension in international relations (continued) .... 269

Chairman: Mr. F. VAN LANGENHOVE (Belgium).

Measures to avert the threat of a new world war
and to reduce tension in international rela-

tions (A/2485/Rev.l and A/2485/Add.1)
(continued)
[Item 73]*

l. Mr. LOPEZ (Philippines) observed that the
reduction of tension in international relations did not
df:penq on the small countries, but, on the other hand,
an attitude of resignation was no adequate guarantee
of survival in the event of conflict. They were, there-
fore, entitled to state their point of view. Despite the
threat of the atomic weapon, man’s desire to live in
freedom and dignity was no less strong than his
Instinct of self-preservation. It was in vain, therefore,
that the Soviet Union attempted to impose its con-
ditions for peace. Free men would never accept com-
munist domination, even to avert war, or allow the
communists to destroy their frecdoms in exchange for
a reduction in world tension. Fear of war could never
be used by the communists to induce the free nations
to expose themselves, defenceless, to communist sub-
version and attack.

2. It was true that the present tension was so
dangerous that a remedy had to be found. Nevertheless,
the polemics provoked by the Soviet delegation and
the draft resolution which it had submitted (A/2485/
Rev.1) were not the proper means of restoring inter-
national confidence. Never, indced, could the free
nations he so credulous as to overlook the trap set
for them when they were asked to accept a text which
would amount to an admission of guilt. Once again,
the theme of all the Sovict speeches had been that
they alone were endowed with all virtues. But such
arguments were of no avail, and the time had come
to abandon all unyielding attitudes and concede that
none was free from blame. The Soviet Union itself
had sinned against the spirit of peace, if only by hurling
accusations against the rest of the world.

3. The time had consequently come for a change
if not of character, at least of script and setting. It was
in the Disarmament Commission that the Soviet Union
had to co-operate in finding a solution guaranteeing
peace for all while ensuring universal security, in the

# Indicates the item number on the agenda of the General
Assembly.

269

spirit of the resolution recently adopted by the Com-
mittee (A/C.1/L.88). It was always Mr. Vyshinsky
who controlled the temper of the Assembly debates
and decided whether the outcome of them would be
fortunate or unfortunate. Words by themselves were
not enough, but the Soviet Union had at least the
possibility of proving by actions that it was really
seeking to guarantee peace, since numerous problems
called for action: the German and Austrian questions,
the Korean political conference, the conflict in Indo-
China and the subversive movements in South-East
Asia. The foreign policy of the United States had
been criticized as merely reflecting a reaction to that
of the Soviet Union. As a law of physics said that
every action was followed by reaction, any favourable
Soviet initiative would certainly provoke a peaceful
response of the same kind.

4. On 19 November, the representative of the Soviet
Union had observed that the Philippines was within
a zone which the United States considered to be part
of its defensive frontiers. But nobody could be surprised
at the mutual defence treaty and military bases agree-
ment between the United States and the Philippines,
which had been allies in the Second World War. The
Philippines was certainly very satisfied with that
guarantee of powerful assistance, under agreements
freelv entered into for defensive purposes, in con-
formity with the Charter. Furthermore, historical ties
and similar beliefs in democracy, as well as the
proximity of the communist menace, rendered the
agreements not only logical, but necessary.

5. The Ukrainian representative had stated (675th
meeting) that the term ‘“‘regional arrangements”, used
in Article 52 of the Charter, could not cover mutual
defence agreements such as those recently signed by
the United States and Greece. But the fact that the
United States was as remote from the Ukraine as from
Greece had not prevented the Soviet Union from wel-
coming an alliance with the United States in the
Second World War.

6. The free countries hoped and prayed that the
United States would continue to support all countries
where frecdom was in jeopardy. Free men desired
peace, but they should make certain that the longing
for peace was not utilized by the communists for
purposes of world domination, and that the desire for
a reduction of tension should not lead to any relaxa-
tion of precautionary measures. \Weakness would only
increase the danger of war.

7. Mr. DE KADT (Netherlands) regretted that the
Soviet draft resolution (A/2485/Rev.1) offered no
real contribution towards a reduction of tension, or any
realistic approach towards measures to avert the threat
of a new world war. As for the Soviet representative’s
speech, it had merely condemned as warmongers, or
their accomplices, all those whose approach to the

A/C.1/SR.676



270 General Assembly—Eighth Session—First Committee

problem differed from that of the Soviet Union. The
Netherlands Government was always ready to con-
sider any measures for the strengthening of peace. It
was natural that the Netherlands which had suffered
terribly from war and occupation wished for a lessen-
ing of world tension which would enable it to achieve
even more than it had in reconstruction, and in social,
cultural and economic development.

8. It was foolish to claim that peoples and govern-
ments like those of the Netherlands saw in the growth
of the war menace a method of escape from economic
and social problems, the solution of which absolutely
demanded the consolidation of peace. There were
doubtless irresponsible elements in every country,
but the Government and people of the Netherlands
could easily hold in check all warmongers, if any
existed. Generally speaking, the countries accused by
the Soviet Union were not threatening peace, nor were
there any forces strong enough to break the will for
peace of the freely elected governments. On the other
hand, no internal or external force would be strong
enough to make those peoples accept a despotic system
or a way of living which they considered beneath
human dignity. The peace-loving world would deal
with any government which endeavoured to impose
such a system by force just as it had dealt with the
Kaiser and Hitler. As for cunning, propaganda, and
scraps of paper, the peace-loving world would never
again be deceived. It would always demand proof, by
means of deeds, that the other side accepted the burden
of control instead of the burden of armaments. It went
without saying that the free world was also prepared
to accept control, and did not claim any privileged
position in the matter.

9. The Soviet representative had denounced the
Baruch plan. The United Nations would impartially
accept any better suggestions, irrespective of their
source. Morcover, the Baruch plan put forward at a
time when the United States had a monopoly of the
atomic bomb, constituted a generous and peace-loving
offer, since the United States was willing to accept
control provided all nations engaged in the manu-
facture of similar weapons did the same. Consequently,
any person who denounced that plan proved that his
intentions were neither generous nor peace-loving.

10. If the Soviet Union was in possession of atom
bombs and hydrogen bombs, the peace-loving peoples
would conclude that international control should be
better organized to prevent any clandestine manu-
facture of such weapons, and of the conventional
weapons which, in their way, could also be very
efficient weapons of mass destruction. So long as the
Soviet Union declined to admit that a growing control
of armaments might be conducive to peace, all peace-
loving peoples would be convinced that the communists
were accumulating propaganda and manceuvring to
divide their opponents.

11. The USSR representative confused reality with
a curious mixture of Press clippings, quotations, wish-
ful thinking and propaganda. The only possible method
of dealing with the free world was that followed by
the overwhelming majority of the United Nations.
The USSR should therefore accept the proposals con-
cerning a conference on the unification and liberation
of Germany and take serious steps to secure peace in
Korea and a solution of the Asian problems and other
world problems. If that were done, tension would be

reduced and some of the USSR proposals that were
at present unacceptable to many governments would
be considered with higher regard. :

12, The Netherlands delegation hoped that the USSR
would give up unfruitful methods, propaganda and
wishful thinking, and it was in that spirit that it would
vote against the dishonest and hollow draft resolution,
which was not in keeping with the serious problem at
issue.

13. Mr. VYSHINSKY (Union of Soviet Socialist
Republics) said that the USSR draft resolution had
served as a basis for a debate on the measures that
the United Nations should take to secure peace. In
discussing the draft, however, certain representatives
had expressed themselves in terms that did not even
deserve a reply. The USSR delegation’s sole intention
was to find a practical and realistic solution for the
problems confronting the General Assembly.

14. The representatives of the Dominican Republic,
the Philippines and the Netherlands had sought to
blame the USSR for the armaments race and inter-
national tension. The Dominican representative, in
particular, had stated (673rd meeting) that the USSR’s
isolationist policy and its refusal to sign or give effect
to peace treaties frustrated the efforts of those who
desired disarmament. Similarly, the Philippine repre-
sentative had described the USSR as a warmonger
and had reproached it for making its proposals for
the settlement of international problems subject to
unacceptable conditions. The Philippine representative
wanted the Soviet Union to accept conditions fixed
not, of course, by the Philippines, but by the ruling
circles of the United States. Thus the USSR’s critics
accused it of imposing its own conditions and at the
same time stated in all seriousness that all it had to
do if it desired a peaceful settlement was to accept
aggressive plans and ultimatums.

15. The USSR had been depicted as a State that was
preparing plans of aggression. In reply to those allega-
tions, which were as absurd as they were calumnious,
it would suffice to note the views of persons who could
scarcely Dbe considered spokesmen for Soviet policy.
For example, Mr. Leopold Bravo, the Argentine Am-
bassador to Moscow, on completing a 15,000 kilometre
tour of the USSR, had described the progress the
country had made in its work of reconstruction. In
Stalingrad, which had been completely destroyed, few
traces of the war remained. He had observed that
every city was carrying out the work with its own
resources, and had added that diplomats who saw only
Moscow had no idea of the progress that was being
made in reconstruction, town planning, culture and
education. Innumerable sanatoria and rest homes on
the Black Sea coast accommodated USSR workers
and officials. Kiev was a flourishing city, and the
Volga Canal defied description. The Argentine Am-
bassador’s tour had left him with the impression
that the USSR was a gigantic construction site.

16. Such a statement was the best rebuttal of allega-
tions that the USSR was preparing for war and that
it was not sincere in its struggle against warmongers.

17. Some representatives, including those of the
United States and the United Kingdom, had claimed
that the fourteen-Power draft resolution previously
adopted by the First Committee (A/C.1/L.88) had
already covered the questions raised by the USSR









676th Meeting—26 November 1953 273

reactionaries, who were always ready to take up the
cause of German unification and exploit it to further
their revanchist objectives. He had added that the
Powers which needed German territory in order to
develop war industry and the reactionary forces within
Germany, in order to reinforce a policy of domination
over the democratic countries, would undoubtedly
utilize the plan for those ends. Events had fully borne
out the correctness of that prophecy.

42. In 1946, for example, the Western Governments
had concluded an agreement to combine their zones
and had taken a series of separate measures, declining
to submit them to the Control Council, the organ
symbolizing the joint policy of the four occupying
Powers towards Germany. A year later, the Ruhr had
been removed from quadripartite control. A bizonal
German economic council had been set up, while the
Soviet proposals for the establishment of central Ger-
man administrative departments for finance, industry,
transport, communications, and foreign trade had been
rejected, despite the fact that they were in conformity
with the Potsdam decisions. In 1948, Mr. Dulles had
informed the General Assembly that there would be
no return to Yalta and Potsdam, a clear indication
of the manner in which the United States intended to
honour its signature.

43. The USSR had protested against that policy, but
in vain. In 1948, as the culmination of their separatist
policy, the Western Powers had brought inter-allied
control to an end, carried out a currency reform in
Western Germany and attempted to convert Berlin
into a centre of agitation against Eastern Germany.

44, TIn 1949, the Conference of Foreign Ministers of
the Western Powers held in Washington approved the
Statute of Western Germany, designed to prolong the
occupation for an indefinite period and to frustrate all
efforts to bring about the conclusion of a treaty of
peace. In order to camouflage that imperialist policy,
a State of Western Germany was created and furnished
with an appropriate constitution. When, a little later
in the same year, the Soviet Foreign Minister had
proposed to the Foreign Ministers the preparation of
a treaty of peace and consideration of measures for
the unification of Germany, the Western representa-
tives had rejected his proposal.

45. United States assertions designed to shift the
blame for the failure of German unity to the Soviet
Union were therefore pure demagogy which could
deceive no one. The Western Powers had prevented
the establishment of a council of state for the whole
of Germany, a co-ordinating body which would have
paved the way for unification. They had rejected Soviet
proposals for the preparation of a treaty of peace and
the withdrawal of the occupation forces. It was in fact
significant that the proclamation of the People’s Coun-
cil and provisional government of the German Demo-
cratic Republic in 1949 had taken place after the events
of September of that year culminating in the establish-
ment of the Adenauer Government in Bonn. That was
clear proof that the setting up of the German Demo-
cratic Republic had merely been a rejoinder to the
action taken by the Western Powers.

46. Under United States direction, the Bonn Parlia-
ment had sought to make Western Germany a member
of the Council of Europe, the Schuman Plan and the
North Atlantic Treaty Organization, where places had

been reserved for the former Nazi generals who were
eager for revenge.

47. Throughout that period, the Government of the
German Democratic Republic had exerted every effort
to bring all Germans around one table, to use the
phrase of Minister Grotewohl.

48. On 10 March 1952, the Soviet Government had
invited the Western Powers to accept a draft treaty
of peace, and had added that it was prepared to
consider any other proposal on the subject. That was
a proposal which Mr. ‘Lodge could not pass over in
silence on the pretext that the United States, Great
Britain and France had not answered, On 15 August,
the Soviet Union Government had sent a further note
incorporating its draft treaty of peace, but in their
reply of 2 September the three Western Powers had
again made no reference to the matter.

49. Thus, Mr. Lodge had not traced the history of
the German question but had given a grossly distorted
and clumsy account of it. The same was true of the
statement he had made on 24 November concerning the
Soviet note of 3 November. That note had proposed,
first, that measures for the easing of international
tension should be considered at a conference of the
Foreign Ministers of the United Kingdom, France, the
United States, the Peoples’ Republic of China and
the Soviet Union; and, secondly, that the German
question should be discussed at a conference of the
Foreign Ministers of the aforementioned countries less
the Peoples’ Republic of China, all proposals put for-
ward in the preparatory stages of the conference being
taken into account. That differed considerably from
Mr. Lodge’s assertion that the Soviet Union had made
agreement between the two Germanies a condition for
the convening of the conference. The Soviet Union
Government had not in fact laid down any conditions;
it had been the Western Powers which had sought
to impose their own in order to postpone the holding
of the conference.

50. Mr. Lodge appeared to feel particularly strongly
about the paragraph in the Soviet draft resolution
(A/2485/Rev.1) condemning the propaganda being
conducted in some countries with the aim of inciting
enmity and hatred among nations. In criticizing that
paragraph, he had attempted to prove that every shade
of sentiment towards the Soviet Union from hatred
to ecstatic admiration was to be found in the United
States Press. But all that the Soviet Union asked was
that the United States Press should abstain from
abusing it. Mr. Lodge had refrained from discussing
the statements he had quoted; he was very well aware
that they proved beyond a doubt that attempts were
being made to incite hatred of the Soviet Union. What,
on the other hand, had Mr. Lodge found in the Soviet
Press? He had read articles from which it appeared
that school teachers were required to tell their pupils
the truth about, for example, the poverty of the masses,
the few rights enjoyed by the peoples in the Anglo-
American imperialist countries, the crimes committed
against humanity. The truth was that the war party
desired war, that the reactionary circles of the United
States wished to perpetuate the exploitation and en-
slavement of other peoples. Should those teachers be
criticized for telling their pupils the truth? Should
they conceal from them the discrimination against
coloured people which existed in the United States, the
Union of South Africa and elsewhere? Was it not






676th Meeting—26 November 1953 275

given a lecture on the best way to run a jail which
would not surprise anyone who had heard of the Lu-
bianka prison and the Siberian concentration camps.

62. Lvidence could easily be adduced to show that
the State Department libraries contained many books
that would not be found in libraries behind the
Iron Curtain. Everyone knew, however, that Mr,
Vyshinsky was in that regard merely indulging in pro-
paganda tactics unworthy of the United Nations. The
representatives sitting about the conference table were
representatives of the human race, which the new
weapons produced by science now enabled to destroy
itself. The danger of the annihilation of human life
could not be warded off by propaganda, startling state-
ments or international haggling. Why did the Soviet
Union and its allies refuse to follow the path of good
will and good faith?

63. Mr. KYROU (Greece) objected to the attacks
made against the North Atlantic Treaty and against
the agreement between the United States and Greece.
As he had said at the 671st meeting, those agreements
were in full accord with the letter and spirit of the
Charter, and more particularly, with its Article 52. It
was regrettable that Mr. Vyshinsky had used the
works of Professor Kelsen and of authors Goodrich
and Hambro in order to twist their thoughts. He had
cited only those passages which would support his
point of view, and had thus once again given evidence
of the partiality which he liked to lay at the door of
others.

64. The documents previously cited by the Greek
representative showed clearly that, in the mind of
those distinguished jurists and in the light of the rec-
ords of the San Francisco Conference, geographical
propinquity was not a prerequisite for participation in
a regional agreement. That conclusion could be drawn
from the report of the special sub-committee of Com-
mittee I1I/4, and also from the verbatim record of
that Committee’s meeting of 8 June 1945. Those docu-
ments showed that the Committee had rejected an
amendment intended to make geographical propinquity
the basis for all regional agreements.

65. Some representatives had pretended not to know
that a spiritual kinship could exist between the United
States and Greece, the signatories of one of the im-
pugned agreements. There was, however, between those
two countries the same spiritual kinship that existed
among all the partners of the North Atlantic bloc,
namely the kinship of members of a free society based
on respect for human worth and dignity. The growing
use of the term “Atlantic community” was the sign of
a common desire not merely to remove the fear of
aggression, but also to satisfy the aspirations aroused
by the Atlantic Charter and the experiences of the war.

That implied a will to contribute to the strengthening
of international co-operation—economic, social or, if
need be, military.

66. Although the North Atlantic Treaty was of a
strictly defensive character despite what was said by
those who attacked it, it might not be purposeless to
recall that NATO had to some extent been forced on
its participants by events which in 1946, 1947 and 1948
had resulted from action set on foot exclusively by
the Soviet Union. The truth could be found merely
by looking at the facts.

67. The establishment of NATO and its extension
to Greece and Turkey was not a source of danger to
anyone. Those who pretended to understand the fears
of the Greek people could, by reviewing the recent his-
tory of that country, understand those fears. Moreover,
the Soviet representative and those who seemed to
share his apprehensions could rest assured that the
bases against which they were protesting would never
be used to launch attacks against other countries.

DRAFT RESOLUTION SUBMITTED BY THE UNION OF
Sovier Sociarist RepusLIcs (A/2485/Rev.l)

68. The CHAIRMAN said that, at the request of
the Indian delegation, the draft resolution would be
voted on paragraph by paragraph.

The first paragraph of the preamble was adopted by
21 wotes to none, with 30 abstentions.

The second paragraph of the preamble was rejected
by 26 wvotes to 7, with 18 abstentions.

Paragraph 1 of the operative part was rejected by
32 wotes to 5, with 14 abstentions.

Paragraph 2 of the operative part was rejected by
32 wotes to 5, with 14 abstentions.

69. The CHAIRMAN stated that at the request of
the Indian delegation paragraph 3 of the operative
part be voted on in two parts. He called for a vote on
the first part: “Recognizes that the establishment . . .
independence of States;”.

The first part of paragraph 3 was rejected by 29
votes to 12, with 9 abstentions.

The sccond part of paragraph 3 was rejected by 32
votes to 7, with 12 abstentions.

Paragraph 4 of the operative part was rejected by
32 wotes to 6, with 13 abstentions.

70. The CHAIRMAN said that, since all the para-
graphs of its operative part had been rejected, draft
resolution A/2485/Rev.1 as a whole had been rejected
and need not be put to the vote.

The meeting rose at 2 p.m.

Printed in U S.A.

M—42200—January 1954—2,000





